## SUPREME COURT NO. \_\_\_\_ COA NO. 45665-6-II

 IN THE SUPREME COURT OF WASHINGTON
 STATE OF WASHINGTON,
Respondent,
v.
DAROLD STENSON,
Petitioner.
I APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE ATE OF WASHINGTON FOR CLALLAM COUNTY
The Honorable S. Brooke Taylor, Judge
PETITION FOR REVIEW

CASEY GRANNIS Attorney for Petitioner

NIELSEN, BROMAN & KOCH, PLLC 1908 East Madison Seattle, WA 98122 (206) 623-2373

##

#### D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In 1994, Darold Stenson was sentenced to death after he was found guilty of murdering Denise Stenson, his wife, and Frank Hoerner, his friend and business associate. <u>In re Pers. Restraint of Stenson</u>, 174 Wn.2d 474, 476, 478, 276 P.3d 286 (2012). In 2012, the Supreme Court reversed the convictions because the State withheld favorable evidence related to police mishandling of pants worn by Stenson at the time of the deaths, in

violation of <u>Brady v. Maryland</u>, 373 U.S. 83, 83 S. Ct. 1194, 10 L. Ed. 2d 215 (1963). <u>Stenson</u>, 174 Wn.2d at 478-79, 493-94.

Before the start of the second trial, the defense moved to dismiss the charges or, in the alternative, to exclude the pants evidence, under a variety of legal theories, including government mismanagement under CrR 8.3(b), a due process <u>Brady</u> violation, and a due process destruction of evidence violation. CP 1534-50, 2000, 2010-2041, (motion to suppress pants and reply); CP 956-63, 1288-1310, 1966-67, 2398-2513 (motion to dismiss); 1RP<sup>1</sup> 124-129; 2RP 41-69, 82-87, 102-119, 127-47. The trial court denied the motions. 1RP 131-38; 2RP 90-94.

Evidence produced at the second trial showed Stenson called 911 in the early morning hours of March 25, 1993 to report his wife and Frank had been shot. Ex. 185. Stenson led responding officers to a downstairs bedroom in which Mr. Hoerner lay on the floor, dead of a gunshot wound to his head. 3RP 608. A gun was on the floor near Hoerner's hand. 3RP 588, 608, 619, 661-62, 849; Ex. 26-29. Stenson also directed officers

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The verbatim report of proceedings is referenced as follows: 1RP - nine consecutively paginated volumes consisting of 8/16/12, 1/11/13, 1/30/13, 6/5/13, 7/10/13, 8/21/13, 8/28/13, 9/10/13, 9/13/13, 12/10/13; 2RP - one volume consisting of 1/4/13, 6/12/13, 8/15/13, 9/23/13 (opening statements); 3RP - 9/16/13, 9/17/13, 9/18/13, 9/23/13, 9/24/13, 9/25/13, 9/26/13, 9/30/13, 10/1/13, 10/2/13, 10/3/13, 10/7/13, 10/8/13, 10/9/13, 10/10/13, 10/14/13, 10/15/13, 10/16/13, 10/17/13, 10/21/13, 10/22/13, 10/23/13, 10/24/13, 10/28/13, 10/29/13, 10/30/13, 10/31/13, 11/4/13, 11/5/13, 11/7/13, 11/12/13.

upstairs to the master bedroom where they found his wife, Denise Stenson, lying in bed with a gunshot wound to her head. 3RP 591, 663-64, 855-57. Mrs. Stenson died the next day. 3RP 991. Police collected the bloodstained pants worn by Stenson. 3RP 1651.

The State put on expert witnesses to testify the blood on Stenson's pants belonged to Mr. Hoerner. 3RP 2520, 2522-232, 574-75, 2627, 2635. Forensic scientist Michael Grubb opined the stains were inconsistent with Stenson's explanation of how the blood got there. 3RP 2466. Rod Englert opined the bloodstains could not have come from kneeling down or brushing against blood left in other areas. 3RP 2939-40, 2942-46. Englert believed the blood got on the pants during a violent struggle that started outside, pointing to marks on Hoerner's pants and jacket as proof. 3RP 2946-47, 3753-60. He theorized Hoerner was dragged. 3RP 3757-59. Englert also believed Hoerner's body was posed to make it look like a suicide. 3RP 3760-63. Grubb believed the gun was placed or settled on Hoerner's hand after the hand came to rest on the floor. 3RP 2417-19.

Dr. Kiesel, a forensic pathologist testifying for the defense, opined the blood pattern on Stenson's jeans did not come from dragging someone. 3RP 3465-67. Kiesel believed Hoerner received his abrasions when he did not have his jacket, pants or perhaps underwear on, which would indicate his injuries happened sometime before he arrived at the Stenson residence.

3RP 3414, 3419-23, 3426, 3443-44, 3446-47, 3454-55. Kay Sweeney, a forensic scientist testifying for the defense, likewise believed the evidence did not show Hoerner had been dragged. 3RP 3726-27, 3RP 3731. Sweeney thought the injury to Hoerner's elbow occurred when he did not have his jacket on and that the injuries to Hoerner's buttocks happened when he did not have his pants on, again putting the timing of those injuries prior to his encounter with Stenson. 3RP 3517, 3524-25, 3551-52, 3556, 3585, 3632, 3724-25, 3583-84. Sweeney also opined bloodstains on the lower left of cuff leg of Stenson's pants were the result of a blood transfer, not direct spatter. 3RP 3642. Sweeney gave no opinion on how the stain on the right knee of Stenson's pants was made. 3RP 3692-93. Examination of the photograph of the intact pants was an insufficient basis on which to opine on how the blood was deposited. 3RP 3606-09. Sweeney further opined Hoerner's gunshot wound was self-inflicted. 3RP 3600. There was no gunshot residue on Stenson's hands. 3RP 1736, 2691-92. Gunshot residue was found on Hoerner's hands. 3RP 2693-94.

Unlike the first trial, the defense pointed to Mrs. Hoerner as the other suspect, showing she had marital difficulties, she hated her husband, she wanted his money, she wanted him dead, she gained financially from his death and she went out with other men right after he died. 3RP 1230, 1425, 1434-35, 1717, 1719, 1722, 3017-23, 3052-58, 3264, 3286-93,

3296-97. The jury nevertheless found Stenson guilty of aggravated first degree murder against Mrs. Stenson and Mr. Hoerner. CP 4826-29. Stenson was sentenced to life without the possibility of release. CP 51. On appeal, Stenson raised several legal arguments, all of which were rejected by the Court of Appeals. Slip op. at 1.

#### E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

1. THE COURT OF APPEALS APPLIED AN IMPROPER STANDARD FOR PREJUDICE IN DENYING STENSON'S CLAIM THAT THE STATE'S MISMANAGEMENT OF THE CASE COMPROMISED HIS DEFENSE.

Defendants in criminal cases are guaranteed the right to a fair trial under the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution. State v. Mullin-Coston, 115 Wn. App. 679, 692, 64 P.3d 40 (2003), aff'd, 152 Wn.2d 107 (2004). The trial court erred in denying Stenson's motion to dismiss under CrR 8.3(b) because the government mismanaged the case. This mismanagement violated Stenson's due process right to a fair trial. Agents of the State destroyed bloodstained portions of the pants worn by Stenson on the morning of the death before a bloodstain analysis could be done, failed to preserve the 911 call record showing when the call was made, failed to disclose Brady information, and otherwise mismanaged the investigation. Stenson's right to a fair trial was prejudiced by lost evidence, lost leads and lost witnesses. The trial

court misapplied the law in failing to dismiss under CrR 8.3(b), and the Court of Appeals erected an improper legal standard for showing prejudice in affirming the trial court's decision. Review is warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2) and (3).

CrR 8.3(b) authorizes the trial court to "dismiss any criminal prosecution due to arbitrary action or governmental misconduct when there has been prejudice to the rights of the accused which materially affect the accused's right to a fair trial." To support dismissal under this rule, the defendant must show "arbitrary action or government misconduct, which may include simple mismanagement" and "actual prejudice affecting his fair trial rights." State v. Oppelt, 172 Wn.2d 285, 297, 257 P.3d 653 (2011). For purposes of CrR 8.3(b), prejudice includes the "right to be represented by counsel who has had sufficient opportunity to adequately prepare a material part of [his] defense." State v. Michielli, 132 Wn.2d 229, 240, 937 P.2d 587 (1997).

The trial court abused its discretion in using an incorrect legal analysis. It relied on a distinction between good faith mismanagement and "actual misconduct" in ruling dismissal was unwarranted, opining only "actual misconduct" justified the extreme remedy of dismissal. 2RP 91-92. That is not the correct legal standard. To support dismissal, it is enough that simple mismanagement occurred. Oppelt, 172 Wn.2d at 297. The

trial court opined the loss of information and witnesses after a 20-year hiatus impacted the State and the defense equally and the State had already been severely sanctioned by having to endure a retrial due to the Brady violation. 2RP 92-93. But prejudice to the State plays no role in the CrR 8.3(b) analysis and there is no balancing of respective harms. Any prejudice to the State is irrelevant under that standard. The correct standard is whether the defendant suffered prejudice. State v. Rohrich, 149 Wn.2d 647, 657, 71 P.3d 638 (2003).

The Court of Appeals also deviated from the established legal standard. It isolated each piece of missing evidence to arrive at a conclusion that Stenson cannot show, but for the mismanagement, the outcome would have been different. Slip op. at 22-29. That is not the correct legal standard. First, it is "the prejudice to the defendant's right to a fair trial that must be material, rather than the evidence itself." State v. Brooks, 149 Wn. App. 373, 389, 203 P.3d 397 (2009). The Court of Appeals' serial minimization of each piece of evidence runs counter to the proper focus for the prejudice inquiry.

Second, the Court of Appeals' "but for" test is an unprecedented departure from the standard for showing prejudice under CrR 8.3(b). The correct standard is that governmental misconduct must have "materially affected the defendant's right to a fair trial." <u>Brooks</u>, 149 Wn. App. at 389.

The Court of Appeals restated the standard: "That is, <u>but for</u> the State's alleged misconduct, the outcome of trial would have been different." Slip op. at 22 (emphasis added). Based on this standard, the Court of Appeals held "Stenson fails to show that the outcome of the trial would have been different." Slip op. at 24.

The defendant bears the burden of showing prejudice to his right to a fair trial, which means prejudice to his defense. Rohrich, 149 Wn.2d at 654; State v. Ramos, 83 Wn. App. 622, 637, 922 P.2d 193 (1996). There is no additional burden. But the Court of Appeals created one for Stenson. By adopting a "but for" standard that the defense prove evidence missing due to the State's misconduct would have yielded a different trial outcome, the Court of Appeals effectively precludes any defendant from meeting the standard. Under the Court of Appeals' approach, loss of evidence due to State mismanagement equals inability to show such evidence would have changed the outcome of the trial.

The standard for showing prejudice under CrR 8.3(b) is not linked to the outcome of the trial because the motion to dismiss is made before trial. The Court of Appeals saddled Stenson with the burden of showing an additional form of prejudice: that "but for" the misconduct, the outcome would have been different. That doesn't make any sense when the salient

is question is whether the trial court, in ruling on the pre-trial motion to dismiss, abused its discretion in ruling on the matter.

Given the space constraints here, there is no way to go through every facet of how the State's mismanagement affected Stenson's ability to put on a defense. Some examples are provided here.

The Court of Appeals agreed the State mismanaged the case in regard to the bloodstained pants: "The State failed to photograph the pants intact before they were removed on the day of the murders, only one photograph was taken which was of poor quality, the FBI lab discarded the cuttings of the bloodstains on the pants after the DNA testing, the State's detective touched the pants with ungloved hands, and most of the bloodstain evidence on the pants was consumed during the DNA testing." Slip op. at 23. But it held Stenson failed to show "the State's mismanagement materially affected his right to a fair trial such that the outcome of the trial would have been different but for the State's mismanagement." Id. Again, the Court of Appeals resorted to the improper "but for" standard for showing prejudice. The defense expert detailed the myriad ways in which the State's mishandling of the pants resulted in loss of key evidence needed to accurately analyze and definitively assess the significance of the bloodstains. CP 961, 1061, 1075-78, 2029, 2031-32, 2287. There was no adequate substitute for the

actual pants in their original condition. CP 2031. Stenson was left with was an expert who was unable to testify about aspects of the blood spatter, which left him in an inferior position to the State's experts. The requirement for showing prejudice under the CrR 8.3(b) standard is satisfied where the misconduct interfered with the defendant's ability to present his case. City of Kent v. Sandhu, 159 Wn. App. 836, 841, 247 P.3d 454 (2011). The State's mismanagement compromised Stenson's ability to defend against the key piece forensic evidence used against him.

Another example of mismanagement is that the government failed to preserve the dispatch record showing when the 911 call was made. 3RP 746-48, 3473-76. Officers who responded to the scene gave various times for the call. 3RP 580-81, 587, 605, 617, 721-22, 1780. The defense wanted the exact time of the 911 call to support an argument that the compressed time frame would not have allowed Stenson to kill both his wife and Mr. Hoerner and dispose of the weapons (which were never found). CP 2469-70. But that evidence was unavailable for Stenson's second trial and his ability to counter the State's proffered timeline was compromised.

But this is not just about the pants and the 911 call. The combination of losses — loss of evidence, lost witnesses, lost leads — materially prejudiced Stenson's presentation of his defense and right to a

fair trial. The State is responsible for the fact that Stenson did not get a fair trial the first time around. It withheld exculpatory evidence. The State's <u>Brady</u> violation constitutes mismanagement of the case under CrR 8.3(b). <u>State v. Martinez</u>, 121 Wn. App. 21, 30, 86 P.3d 1210 (2004). That mismanagement has consequences. It is because of that mismanagement that a second trial occurred 20 years later. The State is responsible for the passage of time and the resulting detriment to Stenson's ability to present a defense at the second trial.

The Court of Appeals "disagree[d] that the State's mismanagement of the case directly caused the loss of information or unavailability of witnesses." Slip op. at 25 (emphasis added). Again, the Court of Appeals erected an improper legal standard used to form an additional barrier to relief. Nothing in the case law requires the State's mismanagement be a "direct" cause. If the result of the State's misconduct is prejudice to the defendant's ability to present a material part of his defense, then the legal standard is satisfied. The State is solely to blame for the reversal of the original convictions and the need for a second trial due to its <u>Brady</u> violation. It is the State's fault that this case was tried 20 years later. In <u>Martinez</u>, the untimely disclosure of exculpatory evidence amounted to a <u>Brady</u> violation and "compromised defense counsel's ability to adequately prepare for trial," warranting dismissal under CrR 8.3(b). Martinez, 121

Wn. App. at 32-36. In Stenson's case, the <u>Brady</u> evidence was not disclosed until many years after the first trial. The ability to present a defense is more compromised than in Martinez.

Prevailing on a motion under CrR 8.3(b) requires a showing of actual prejudice; the mere possibility or speculation of prejudice will not suffice. Rohrich, 149 Wn.2d at 657-58. Assertions that witness memories "could have faded" or that defendant's memory "could have been compromised" demonstrates only a "possibility of prejudice," which is insufficient to justify dismissal under CrR 8.3(b). Rohrich, 149 Wn.2d at 657. Stenson does not rely on the speculative possibility that witnesses are unavailable or that their memories have faded. We know for certain that this occurred. Two of the more glaring examples involve Jack Mendorf (deceased) and Deanne Chapman (lost memory).

Mendorf, had he still been alive, could have provided very helpful testimony for the defense: Mrs. Hoerner showed up at his doorstep asking about Frank before she could have known about the murders. 2RP 59; CP 2474. That testimony, which strongly supported the other suspect theory of the defense case, was unavailable for the second trial. Incriminating evidence against the other suspect was material to Stenson's right to present his case fairly.

Chapman, had she not lost her memory by the time of the second trial, could have testified that David Oberman privately met with Mrs. Hoerner in the weeks leading up to the murder, admitted owning the gun used in the murders, and asked her to hide the bar that was used to hit Frank on the head. CP 2521, 2529, 3143; 2RP 63-64. Chapman's testimony would have allowed the defense to argue Mr. Oberman was involved in the murders. This testimony, now lost, would have effectively rebutted the argument the State was able to make: that Mrs. Hoerner could not have been the killer because she was too small and weak to overpower Frank by herself and drag him from the driveway to the bedroom. 3RP 4081-82. The Court of Appeals said Stenson did not show how Oberman's statements to Chapman would have been admissible. Slip op. at 26. That Had Chapman been available to testify, Oberman's is incorrect. statements to her would have been admissible as statements against penal interest under ER 804(b)(3). Had Oberman still been alive, he may have admitted the matters himself.

Other witnesses, unavailable for the second trial, would have supported the defense case. For example, Cheryl Fabel, Mrs. Hoerner's friend, gave an interview to police in which she said Mrs. Hoerner talked about divorce daily, complained about not getting enough sex, had affairs with other men before Frank died, and knew how to use a gun. CP 2415.

Fabel's testimony would have supported the defense theory that Mrs. Hoerner was the murderer. The fact that Mrs. Hoerner knew how to use a gun would have been particularly helpful, as no other witness testified to this fact at trial. The Court of Appeals said the defense could have deposed her. Slip op. at 27. A deposition would have been useless. Defense counsel did not call Fabel as a witness because of her memory problems, to which the trial court commented "it's not surprising we have some witnesses with memory issues in 20 years' time." 3RP 3086.

David Oberman (deceased) could have testified that Frank beat Mrs. Hoerner and that she planned to leave Frank. CP 2429, 2439, 2473. Such testimony would have bolstered the defense theory that Mrs. Hoerner was the killer. The Court of Appeals noted a transcript of Oberman's testimony from the first trial was available for use at the second trial. Slip op. at 26. That is specious because Oberman was not questioned on this matter at the first trial.

Oberman told a defense investigator in 1993 that Alison, who lived across the street from the Stenson residence, had seen a woman running from the property on the morning of the murders. CP 2423, 2489, 2609. Alison could not be located for the second trial. CP 2423. That lost testimony would have supported the "other suspect" theory of the case.

Tracy Reed told police that she saw bruises on Mrs. Hoerner's body before the murders and that Mrs. Hoerner was not getting along with Frank. CP 2431-32. A few days before the shootings, Hoerner walked from her house to the Stenson house in the rain with a suitcase, crying. CP 2431-32. According to Chapman, Reed knew that David Oberman had been out all night before the murders and then returned "before everything happened." CP 2453. The Court of Appeals said "the record is not clear whether Reed could have been located for trial and Reed's unavailability for trial cannot be attributed to the State." Slip op. at 26. The record is clear: Reed could not be located to testify for the second trial. CP 2478. Her unavailability is attributable to the State because the State's untimely disclosure of the Brady evidence resulted in a new trial 20 years down the line, by which point Reed was missing.

Stenson's ability to prepare a defense to the charges was compromised as a result of the cumulative loss of evidence. He shows government mismanagement and actual prejudice. The trial court abused its discretion in refusing to dismiss the case under CrR 8.3(b).

# 2. DESTRUCTION OF EVIDENCE VIOLATED DUE PROCESS.

Under the due process clause of the Fourteenth Amendment, the State must preserve material exculpatory evidence to comport with the due

process rights to fundamental fairness and a meaningful opportunity to present a complete defense. State v. Burden, 104 Wn. App. 507, 511-12, 17 P.3d 1211 (2001). If destroyed evidence is potentially useful rather than materially exculpatory, bad faith must be shown. Arizona v. Youngblood, 488 U.S. 51, 58, 109 S. Ct. 333, 102 L. Ed. 2d 281 (1988). A cavalier attitude towards the preservation of evidence that should be preserved under police regulation has been held to constitute bad faith. State v. Durnwald, 163 Ohio App.3d 361, 370-71, 837 N.E.2d 1234 (Ohio Ct. App. 2005). The State, through its law enforcement and forensic agents, acted in reckless disregard in failing to keep the bloodstained pants intact before conducting DNA analysis and in compromising the integrity of the bloodstained portion of the pants before a defense expert had an opportunity to conduct comprehensive analysis. 3RP 1741-42, 2447, 2480-81, 2489, 2506, 2934; CP 958, 1053-54, 1542, 2021, 2166-67, 2277. The Court of Appeals disagreed that Stenson showed bad faith. Slip op. at 31. Even if this is correct, Stenson also advanced an independent state constitutional claim supported by a Gunwall<sup>2</sup> analysis. See Brief of Appellant at 67-71. State v. Wittenbarger, 124 Wn.2d 467, 474, 481, 880 P.2d 517 (1994) adopted the federal due process test. For the reasons set forth in the briefing, Stenson asks this Court to overturn Wittenbarger as

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> State v. Gunwall, 106 Wn.2d 54, 720 P.2d 808 (1986).

incorrect and harmful and reinstate the former standard for destruction of evidence claims set forth in <u>State v. Wright</u>, 87 Wn.2d 783, 789-90, 557 P.2d 1 (1976). Review is warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(3).

# 3. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO EXCLUDE THE PANTS EVIDENCE AS AN ALTERNATIVE TO DISMISSAL.

As an alternative to dismissal, the defense argued the trial court must suppress the pants evidence to ensure Stenson received a fair trial. CP 956-62, 1534-50, 2010-41, 2511. Under CrR 8.3(b) and as a matter of due process, the lesser remedy of evidence exclusion is warranted if that remedy secures a fair trial. State v. Marks, 114 Wn.2d 724, 730, 790 P.2d 138 (1990); State v. Boyd, 29 Wn. App. 584, 590, 629 P.2d 930 (1981). The Court of Appeals held Stenson failed to show bad faith by the State in its handling of the pants and so the trial court did not err when it denied Stenson's motion to suppress. Slip op. at 32-33. Stenson relies on his due process argument set forth in section E.2., supra. Even if the due process argument fails. exclusion remains an available mismanagement under CrR 8.3(b), regardless of whether bad faith is shown. Michielli, 132 Wn.2d at 239. The Court of Appeals misapplied the law in conflating the due process bad faith requirement with government mismanagement under CrR 8.3(b). Review is warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1).

# 4. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN REFUSING TO GIVE THE SPOLIATION INSTRUCTION PERTAINING TO THE PANTS.

The trial court erred in refusing to give the defense's proposed spoliation instruction for the pants worn by Stenson and subsequently tested. CP 380, 488-503; 3RP 3953, 3956-57. "When a party fails to produce relevant evidence within its control, without satisfactory explanation, the inference is that such evidence would be unfavorable to the nonproducing party." Lynott v. National Union Fire Ins. Co. of Pittsburgh, Pa., 123 Wn.2d 678, 689, 871 P.2d 146 (1994). In deciding whether to apply a spoliation inference, the court considers (1) the potential importance or relevance of the missing evidence and (2) the culpability or fault of the adverse party. Tavai v. Walmart Stores, Inc., 176 Wn. App. 122, 135, 307 P.3d 811 (2013). Culpability is assessed by asking "whether the party acted in bad faith or conscious disregard of the importance of the evidence or whether there was some innocent explanation for the destruction." Tavai 176 Wn. App. at 135. In this regard, consideration is given to whether the party violated a duty to preserve the evidence and whether the party knew the evidence was important to pending litigation. <u>Id.</u>; <u>Homeworks Const.</u>, <u>Inc. v. Wells</u>, 133 Wn. App. 892, 900, 138 P.3d 654 (2006). The trial court ruled the spoliation instruction was inappropriate because the State did not act in

bad faith in failing to preserve the pants in an intact state. 3RP 3956-57. The trial court erred because a showing of bad faith is not a prerequisite for a spoliation instruction. Homeworks, 133 Wn. App. at 900.

The Court of Appeals did not dispute the bloodstained pants were important evidence. Rather, the Court of Appeals held the facts did not support a spoliation instruction because the State sufficiently explained the destruction of the bloodstain evidence resulted from DNA testing. Slip op. at 34. The Court of Appeals glossed over pertinent facts. The State understood the importance of the bloodstained pants as evidence for the criminal case against Stenson, but did nothing to ensure a bloodstain analysis was done before the pants were cut up. 3RP 2364, 2506; CP 456, 489-90. Further, no explanation was given for why the "halos" of the bloodstains were not left intact rather than discarded. CP 1543. These facts show a conscious disregard of the importance of the evidence. Review is warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

5. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO GRANT A MISTRIAL AFTER THE STATE'S WITNESS EXPRESSED HER OPINION THAT STENSON WAS GUILTY OF KILLING HER HUSBAND.

Mrs. Hoerner expressed her direct opinion to the jury that Stenson killed her husband. 3RP 1288. No witness may opine as to the defendant's guilt. State v. Quaale, 182 Wn.2d 191, 199, 340 P.3d 213 (2014). Mrs.

Hoerner's opinion that Stenson killed Frank Hoerner implicates Stenson's right to a fair and impartial jury trial. State v. Johnson, 152 Wn. App. 924, 934, 219 P.3d 958 (2009); State v. Montgomery, 163 Wn.2d 577, 590, 183 P.3d 267 (2008); U.S. Const. amends. VI, XIV. The trial court erred in denying the defense motion for mistrial because the irregularity was serious and the curative instruction could not have been effective. 3RP 1313. A criminal defendant is guaranteed the right to a fair trial, and the erroneous denial of a motion for mistrial violates that right. State v. Weber, 99 Wn.2d 158, 164, 659 P.2d 1102 (1983); Mullin-Coston, 115 Wn. App. at 692; U.S. Const. amends. VI, XIV; Wash. Const. art. I, § 3, 22.

The Court of Appeals held the trial court cured any potential prejudice by immediately striking the remark and instructing the jury to disregard the remark. Slip op. at 36. The counterpoint is that while jurors are presumed to follow the court's instructions to disregard testimony, "no instruction can remove the prejudicial impression created by evidence that is inherently prejudicial and of such a nature as to likely impress itself upon the minds of the jurors." State v. Escalona, 49 Wn. App. 251, 255, 742 P.2d 190 (1987). In affirming the trial court's ruling, the Court of Appeals reasoned "because Denise Hoerner did not repeat the remark, the remark was not cumulative." Slip op. at 36. The Court of Appeals misapplied the test for assessing whether a trial irregularity warrants a new

trial. Irregular testimony that is *not* cumulative of other evidence supports a mistrial. <u>Escalona</u>, 49 Wn. App. at 255. Irregular testimony that is cumulative supports denial of a mistrial motion. <u>Weber</u>, 99 Wn.2d at 165-66. The Court of Appeals got it backwards.

The prejudice against Stenson was compounded when Mrs. Hoerner repeatedly muttered that Stenson was the murderer during cross examination. One juror heard her do this. 3RP 1530-31. Another juror heard Mrs. Hoerner say "he's lying" and "liar, liar." 3RP 1536. The Court of Appeals held the trial court, by questioning each juror as to whether the juror could be fair and impartial, properly concluded the remarks were not so serious or cumulative that the jury could not disregard them as instructed. Slip op. at 37. Actually, the court did not instruct any juror who heard the improper remarks to disregard them. 3RP 1531-38. The jurors at issue denied the statements had any effect, but "it is 'unlikely that a prejudiced juror would recognize his [or her] own personal prejudice - or knowing it, would admit it." Wayne R. LaFave et. al, Criminal Procedure, § 22.3(c), at 308 (2d ed. 1999) (quoting A. Friendly & R. Goldfarb, Crime and Publicity 103 (1967)). Review is warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(3).

# 6. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ADMITTING EVIDENCE OF A DEFENSE WITNESS'S PRIOR DRUG CONVICTIONS UNDER ER 609.

The trial court erred in admitting evidence of prior drug convictions under ER 609(a) to impeach defense witness Rae Wagner. 3RP 3027-31. These convictions were irrelevant to credibility, and the court failed to analyze on the record how the drug convictions were probative of truthfulness. The rule is that "[p]rior drug convictions are generally not probative of a witness's veracity and thus are usually inadmissible for impeachment purposes under ER 609(a)(1)." State v. Hardy, 133 Wn.2d 701, 715, 946 P.2d 1175 (1997). There is "nothing inherent in ordinary drug convictions to suggest the person convicted is untruthful." Hardy, 133 Wn.2d at 709-10. That proposition applies equally to all witnesses, not just defendants who choose to testify. The Court of Appeals, however, suggested the standard only applies to defendants. Slip op. at 39. The trial court's ruling does not show how Wagner's prior drug convictions affect her credibility. 3RP 3031. And there is zero balancing of the requisite factors on the record. State v. Calegar, 133 Wn.2d 718, 722, 947 P.2d 235 (1997). The Court of Appeals, in holding otherwise, offered no explanation for how this was proper impeachment rather than a smear tactic. Slip op. at 39. Review is warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1).

# 7. PROSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT VIOLATED STENSON'S DUE PROCESS RIGHT TO A FAIR TRIAL.

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