#### RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON

#### NO. 94298-6

# 4/26/2017 12:14 pm

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASRESEIVED ELECTRONICALLY

#### STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

#### DAROLD RAY STENSON,

Petitioner.

# ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II Court of Appeals No. 45665-6-II Clallam County Superior Court No. 93-1-00039-1

#### ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

MARK BURNS NICHOLS Clallam County Prosecuting Attorney 223 East 4<sup>th</sup> Street, Suite #11 Port Angeles, WA 98362 (360) 385-9180

JEREMY A. MORRIS Special Deputy Prosecuting Attorney 519 Division Street, Suite C Port Orchard, WA 98366 (360) 519-3500

[-]
U
5
2
E
CO I

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE
V. ARGUMENT
A. This Court should deny review of the Court of Appeals decision
because the Defendant has failed to show that the Court of Appeals'
decision was inconsistent with Washington law, and has similarly
failed to show that there is a significant constitutional issue or an
issue of substantial public interest that warrants review
B. The Defendant failed to show that a dismissal was warranted
under either the due process clause or under CRR 8.3
C. The Defendant's claim that the trial court abused its discretion in
failing to suppress the pants is without merit as the trial court acted
well within its discretion in finding that suppression was not
warranted under either a due process or CrR 8.3 analysis 12
D. The Defendant's claim that the trial court abused its discretion
when it declined to give a "missing evidence" instruction is without
merit because such an instruction can only be given when the absence
of the evidence is unexplained, and because the absence of
the cuttings from the Defendant's pants was explained in the present
case
E. The Defendant has failed to show that the trial court abused its
broad discretion in denying the motion for a mistrial
F. The Defendant's claim that the trial court abused its discretion in

admitting a witness's previous conviction under ER 609 is without
merit because the Defendant has failed to show that the trial court
abused its discretion. Inaddition, even if this court were to find error,
any error was harmless 17
G. The Defendant's claim that the State committed prosecutorial
misconduct by misstating the burden of proof is without merit
because the Defendant has failed to show that the State's comments
were improper
H. The Defendant's claim that WPIC 4.01 is unconstitutional is
without merit as this Court has found that the instruction at issue is
both constitutional and a correct statement of the law
I. The Defendant has failed to show that the trial court abused its
discretion in granting the State's motion to continue the trial because
the State provided numerous grounds that justified the continuance.25
VI. CONCLUSION

# TABLE OF AUTHORITIES CASES

<i>Arizona v. Youngblood,</i> 488 U.S. 51, 109 S.Ct. 333, 102 L.Ed. 281 (1988)
Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83, 83 S.Ct. 1194, 10 L.Ed.2d 215 (1963)
California v. Trombetta, 467 U.S. 479, 104 S.Ct. 2528, 81 L.Ed.2d 413 (1984)
<i>Ferguson v. Roper,</i> 400 F.3d 635 (8th Cir 2005)6
In re Stenson, 174 Wn.2d 474, 276 P.3d 286 (2012)
Lovitt v. True, 403 F.3d 171 (4th Cir 2005)6
Mayer v. Sto Indus., Inc., 156 Wn.2d 677, 132 P.3d 115 (2006)14
<i>State ex rel. Carroll v. Junker,</i> 79 Wn.2d 12, 482 P.2d 775 (1971)
State v. Ansell, 36 Wn. App. 492, 675 P.2d 614 (1984)9
State v. Baker, 78 Wn.2d 327, 474 P.2d 254 (1970)9
State v. Bankston, 99 Wn. App. 266, 992 P.2d 1041 (2000)
State v. Bennett, 161 Wn.2d 303, 165 P.3d 1241 (2007)23-24
State v. Blair, 117 Wn.2d 479, 816 P.2d 718 (1991).

State v. Brown, 132 Wn.2d 529, 940 P.2d 546 (1997)21
State v. Calegar, 133 Wn.2d 718, 947 P.2d 235 (1997)
State v. Campbell, 103 Wn.2d 1, 691 P.2d 929 (1984)
State v. Curtiss, 161 Wn. App. 673, 250 P.3d 496 (2011)
State v. Dhaliwal, 150 Wn.2d 559, 79 P.3d 432 (2003)
State v. Duggins, 68 Wn. App. 396, 844 P.2d 441 (1993)9
State v. Ecklund, 30 Wn. App. 313, 633 P.2d 933 (1981)15
State v. Flinn, 154 Wn.2d 193, 119 P.3d 748 (2005)25
State v. Hardy, 133 Wn.2d 701, 946 P.2d 1175 (1997)
State v. Heredia–Juarez, 119 Wn. App. 150, 79 P.3d 987 (2003)
State v. Johnson, 158 Wn. App. 677, 243 P.3d 936 (2010)
State v. Jordan, 17 Wn. App. 542, 564 P.2d 340 (1977)
State v. Kalebaugh, 183 Wn.2d 578, 355 P.3d 253 (2015)
State v. Koerber, 85 Wn. App. 1, 931 P.2d 904 (1996)

State v. Lane, 56 Wn. App. 286, 786 P.2d 277 (1989)
State v. Lewis, 115 Wn.2d 294, 797 P.2d 1141 (1990)14
State v. Lewis, 130 Wn.2d 700, 927 P.2d 235 (1996)15
State v. Lillard, 122 Wn. App. 422, 93 P.3d 969 (2004)
State v. Lindsay, 189 Wn.2d 423, 326 P.3d 125 (2014)
<i>State v. Mabry</i> , 51 Wn. App. 24, 751 P.2d 882 (1988)24
State v. Norby, 122 Wn.2d 258, 858 P.2d 210 (1993)9
State v. Ollivier, 178 Wn.2d 813, 312 P.3d 1 (2013)
State v. Pirtle, 127 Wn.2d 628, 904 P.2d 245 (1995)24
State v. Price, 33 Wn. App. 472, 655 P.2d 1191 (1982)
<i>State v. Rodriguez,</i> 146 Wn.2d 260, 45 P.3d 541 (2002)14, 15
State v. Rohrich, 149 Wn.2d 647, 71 P.3d 638 (2003)
State v. Russell, 125 Wn.2d 24, 882 P.2d 747 (1994)
State v. Sakellis, 164 Wn. App. 170, 269 P.3d 1029 (2011)

State v. Stenson, 132 Wn.2d 668, 940 P.2d 1239 (1997)
State v. Thompson, 13 Wn. App. 1, 533 P.2d 395 (1975)